
 
 
 

 
  30 November 2020 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL 
will meet on 

Monday, 7 December 2020 

beginning at 
6:45 pm 

 

PLEASE NOTE: this will be a ‘virtual meeting’. The meeting can be viewed here: 
https://bit.ly/3mrdtQF 

 
TO: Councillor Richard Gomer (Chair) 
 Councillor Malcolm Cross (Vice-Chair) 
 Councillor Janice Asman 

Councillor Alan Broadhurst 
Councillor Nicholas Couldrey 
Councillor Jephthe Doguie 
Councillor James Duguid 
Councillor Judith Grajewski 
Councillor Tim Groves 
Councillor Lucy Jurd 
Councillor David Pragnell 
Councillor Sara Tyson-Payne 
Councillor Gin Tidridge 

 
CC: Councillor Keith House Council Leader 
  
Staff Contacts: Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer; Tel: 023 8068 

8298; Email: nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 
Natalie Wigman, Corporate Director Tel: 023 8068 8405 
Email: natalie.wigman@eastleigh.gov.uk 

  

NATALIE WIGMAN 
Corporate Director – Strategy 

____________________________________________________________________ 

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website - 
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings as well as in other formats, including 

Braille, audio, large print and other languages, upon request. 
 

PLEASE NOTE that any member of the press and public may listen-in to 
proceedings at this ‘virtual’ meeting via a weblink which will be publicised on the 
Council website at least 24hrs before the meeting. It is important, however, that 

Councillors can discuss and take decisions without disruption, so the only 
participants in this virtual meeting will be the Councillors concerned, the officers 
advising the Committee and any participants who have registered in advance to 

speak. This meeting may be recorded. 

 

Eastleigh House  
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

1

https://bit.ly/3mrdtQF
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


AGENDA 
 

1. Public Participation      
  
 Councillors not on Policy and Performance Committee and members of the public 

can participate during this section of the meeting in the following ways: 
 

 If you are able to participate live (meet the technical requirements) and wish to 

be present and speak, you will need to notify Democratic Services 4 working 

days (Midday Tuesday 1 December 2020) before the meeting. Technical and 

etiquette guides will be provided. 

 Alternatively, the public can email a statement to be read out by ‘the 

spokesperson’.  Emailed statements will need to be received 2 working days 

(Midday Thursday 3 December 2020) before the date of the meeting. 

Democratic Services will confirm receipt of the email and confirm it can be read 

out. 

 The statement (including questions) will be the equivalent of a maximum 

of three minutes if read out.  Please therefore restrict your statement to one 

side of A4 (12 font).  This applies audio/ video recordings also. 

 Alternatively a MP4 file will be sent to Democratic Services 4 working days 

(Midday Tuesday 1 December 2020) before the meeting.  This must be 

accompanied by a written transcript (emailed). In the event that the file does not 

meet technical requirements the transcript will be read by the spokesperson 

and shown on the screen.  

 Please contact us via democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk 
  
2. Minutes    (Pages 5 - 8)  
  
 To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 23 November. 
  
3. Apologies     
 
4. Declarations of Interest      
  
 Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 

agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 
  
5. Chair's Report     
 
6. Public Transport Operators     
 
7. Climate Change and Environmental Emergency Action Plan - six monthly scrutiny    

(To Follow) 
 
8. New Ways with Waste    (Pages 9 - 22) 
 

2

mailto:democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk


9. Eastleigh Homes Delivery Strategy    (Pages 23 - 38) 

 
 
 

Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  - 
 

Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews  

 
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Thursday, 28 January 2021 at 6:45 pm 

3

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL 
 

Monday, 23 November 2020  (7:00 pm – 8:50 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor Gomer (Chair); Councillors Asman, Broadhurst, Duguid, 
Grajewski, Groves, Jurd, Tyson-Payne and Tidridge 
 
Also in attendance: Councillors Campbell, Airey and Kyrle 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Cross, Couldrey 
and Pragnell 
 

________________________________________ 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

125. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation on this occasion. 
 

126. MINUTES 
 
Councillor Grajewski raised that point 117. in the minutes of the last 
meeting contains an error as refers to her having a pecuniary interest 
rather than a non-pecuniary interest as Executive Member of Public Health 
at Hampshire County Council. 
 
It was AGREED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 15 October 2020 
be confirmed and signed by the Chair as a correct record. 
 

127. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Cllr Grajewski declared an interest in relation to the COVID 19 Recovery 
proposals as a member of the Hampshire County Council Cabinet COVID-
19 Recovery Group, and as a Non-Executive Director of Solent Local 
Enterprise Partnership Board. 
 

128. CHAIR'S REPORT 
 

1. In principle agreement from regeneration portfolio holders to 
facilitate regular scrutiny of their portfolios, as we've proposed for 
other portfolios, recognising that their portfolios are managed 
differently to others in the council. We will now move forward to 
form portfolio interest groups. 
 

2. Public transport providers agreed to attend December’s meeting. 

5

Agenda Item 2



2 
 

 
3. The Panel were asked if finance training was beneficial now that the 

financial monitoring is a regular item for consideration.  
 
AGREED: 
 
That training on Financial scrutiny be arranged for the Panel. 
 
 

129. UPDATE FROM TASK AND FINISH GROUPS 
 
Cllr Groves updated on the Environmental Task and Finish Group which 
covers both trees and the Pollution Strategy.  The group had met since the 
last meeting of this Panel and work was progressing with a presentation to 
the Panel expected in the new year. 
 
Cllr Asman updated on the Equality Strategy Task and Finish Group.  The 
group had not met yet but was meeting next week and then a meeting had 
been arranged once a month thereafter. 
 

130. EASTLEIGH SCHEME OF HOUSING ALLOCATIONS 
 
The Council’s Housing and Homelessness Officer presented the Eastleigh 
Scheme of Allocations. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel noted the contents 
of the report and made the following recommendations for 
consideration: 
 

1) That section 7.4 is expanded to refer to a wider range of 
prejudicial behaviour, such as racism; and  

 
2) To introduce wording to reflect the need for proportionality and 

contextual need of any exclusion based on criminal 
convictions and consider how to increase the transparency of 
such decisions. 

 
 

 
131. BIODIVERSITY STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT 

 
Cllr Rupert Kyrle, Portfolio Holder for the Environment gave a presentation 
on the development work on the emerging Biodiversity Strategy. 
 
It was AGREED that: 
 
That the current Environment Task and Finish Group Chaired by Cllr 
Groves was expanded to consider and contribute to the emerging 

6



3 
 

Biodiversity Strategy and ensure that Biodiversity Strategy fits with 
the current Climate and Environmental Emergency Action Plan.  
 

132. RESPONSES TO M27 SCRUTINY INVITATION 
 
Cllr David Airey, Portfolio Holder for Transport introduced the report on the 
responses the Council has received to its questions about the M27 Smart 
Motorway.  
 
It was AGREED that: 
 

(1) The email from Steve Brine MP clarifying his response to Highways 
England was attached to the report to Cabinet; and  

 
(2) That the Policy and Performance Panel hold a Scrutiny session on 

the M27 Smart Motorway with key stakeholders regardless of 
Highways England representation. 

 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel noted the contents 
of the report and made the following recommendation for 
consideration: 
 
That Cabinet request that Highways England do not bring the new 
fourth inside lane of the Motorway into operation until Stopped 
Vehicle Detection technology, additional Emergency Refuge Areas 
and environmental mitigations are all in place, and that similar 
measures are implemented for the M3 motorway. 
 

133. CORPORATE PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL MONITORING 
 
The Corporate Director (Support) and Chief Financial Officer presented 
the report.  
 
RESOLVED -  
 
That the report be noted. 
 

134. COVID 19 RECOVERY PROPOSALS 
 
The Corporate Director (Strategy) presented the COVID 19 recovery 
proposals.  
 
RESOLVED –  
 
The Panel considered the actions and proposals to support recovery 
from COVID 19, both as an organisation and in respect of supporting 
local communities.  

7



4 
 

 
135. CABINET FORWARD PLAN 

 
The Panel considered the Forward Plan of Key Decisions. 
 
It was AGREED that the report be noted. 
 

136. POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL'S WORK 
PROGRAMME 
 
Panel members considered their Work Programme to February 2021 in 
light of their own emerging priorities. 
 
S106 review to be picked up at the end of the democratic year. 
 
It was AGREED that the Work Programme be noted. 
 

8



CABINET 

Thursday 10 December 2020 

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  

Monday, 7 December 2020  

IMPROVING WASTE COLLECTIONS 

Report of the Head of Direct Services 

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that  Policy & Performance Scrutiny Panel:  
 

1. Notes the proposed changes following the waste collection pilot and the 
restart of food waste collections and makes any relevant recommendations to 
Cabinet. 

2. It is recommended that Cabinet approves the proposals listed below, to be 
implemented on 1st March 2021: 

 

A. Increasing the frequency of kerbside glass and battery recycling from 
monthly to fortnightly; 

B. The adoption of a zonal approach to waste collections to drive operational 
efficiency, rather than a north/south split; 

C. Harmonising waste and recycling collection days for the convenience of 
residents; 

D. The separate weekly collection of food waste in low pollution vehicles to 
support the Council’s Climate and Environmental Emergency Strategy; and 

E. The borough-wide collection of food waste from flats on a phased basis. 
 

 

Summary 
 
Following the restart of food waste collections and the implementation of a waste 

collection pilot scheme on 9 November 2020, a number of improvements to the 

Council’s waste and recycling services are proposed.   

 

9

Agenda Item 8



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

These changes are necessary to meet the needs of a growing population, improve the 

management of waste, access to recycling and service resilience, whilst meeting future 

demand and responding to emerging Government legislation.    

 
Statutory Powers 
 
Localism Action 2011 

 

The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011 

 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. The changes proposed will ensure the Council is able to continue to meet its 
Minimising Waste and Maximising Resources objective in the Corporate Plan 
2015 – 2025.   

2. The Government’s Resources and Waste Strategy for England published 

December 2018 sets a target for a minimum of 65% of municipal waste to be 

recycled by 2035.  The proposed changes will enhance the borough’s 

recycling rate, which has slowed during the current Covid-19 pandemic.   

 

3. Responding to the Climate and Environmental Emergency is critical, as is the 

need to ensure residents are also clear about their responsibilities and the 

Council’s responsibilities for managing their waste and recycling. 

 

Introduction 

4. The council’s waste and recycling service was last reviewed in 2012 and has 

remained largely unchanged since. Whilst the borough has seen significant 

development and an increase in property numbers, investment in the waste 

service has remained largely unchanged which has meant increasing 

challenges for collection teams in completing allocated work in a timely 

manner and to the standard required. Impending changes to legislation, 

revised recycling targets and proposed changes to local recycling 

infrastructure mean that the council needs to review and invest in its waste 

and recycling services to ensure they are able to meet these future challenges 

and deliver the levels of service that the Council is widely recognised for.  

 

5. Consequently, the New Ways with Waste (NWWW) project team was 

established to consider potential changes and improvements to the existing 

service to ensure that it was able to meet the needs of residents against this 

background of change. Following benchmarking and evaluation of a number 

of options, the team identified a range of inclusive measures to increase 

recycling yield, improve efficiency and ensure that the service is able to react 

to the changing environment.      

10



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 

6. In order to trial these, the Council commenced a waste collection pilot on 9 

November 2020 for approximately 6,700 households. This involved the 

fortnightly collection of glass and batteries at the same time as mixed-dry 

recycling collections and the separate collection of food waste in low-pollution 

vehicles. Additionally, 18 housing blocks (flats) were included and are now 

able to recycle food waste in communal food wheeled bins; this will be rolled 

out across the borough.   

 

7. According to Hampshire County Council’s Environment Department’s 2018 

based ‘Small Area Population Forecasts’ there will be 2000 additional 

households across the borough by 2022, rising to circa 6,000 by 2025.  The 

service needs the resilience and flexibility to meet the needs of a growing 

population.  

 

Service Enhancements  

8. The proposals will enable residents to recycle glass and batteries fortnightly 

rather than monthly with collections being on the same day and in the same 

vehicle as mixed dry recycling.  This harmonises recycling collections and 

makes it easier for residents to remember to put their containers out. Food 

waste will continue to be collected weekly and on the same day as refuse and 

recycling/glass, with food collections for flats being phased in across the 

Borough. 

 

9. Following the commencement of the pilot scheme performance to date is 

encouraging, in terms of performance and operational delivery. Glass 

recycling in particular has shown an increase of approximately 30% in line 

with authorities across Hampshire, highlighting the importance of increasing 

the collection frequency.   

 

Adopting a zonal approach to waste collections  

10. Collection days for residents will change following the introduction of zonal 

collections.  This will harmonise collection days, with glass/batteries/DMR and 

food collected on the same day (though not all at the same time) one week and 

on the same day the next week, food and refuse would be collected (not at the 

same time). 

11. The borough will be split into five zones with all services being provided on a 

single day within the designated zone. Whilst this will not currently include 

garden waste collections, work will be undertaken with a view to incorporating 

these as soon as this is possible.  Appendix 1 shows the zone areas across the 

borough.   Zones are a more effective way of working; they can absorb 

population growth and improve team-working potential for waste and recycling 

crews and supervisors.     

11



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 
12. A detailed communications plan will support these changes, including: 

 

 A postcard to remind residents of changes to collection days (Appendix 

2a is the example card and is mocked up using 1 March 2021 date) 

 Posters for parish noticeboards (Appendix 2b) 

 Letter to residents with a calendar and information leaflet (Appendix 

2C) focusing on materials that can and can’t be recycled.    

 A programme of social media, email, YWBN, Borough News and 

internal communications is planned to support collection day/fortnightly 

glass changes. 

 Website. 

 

 

An example timeline is below.  

1 March 2021 Go Live Activity 

November 2020 Letter production 

December 2020 Data to Whitespace and put in test to enable letters 

to be generated 

December 2020 Finalise postcard/parish poster 

Early January 2021 Letter generation 

Mid-January 2021 Poster distribution 

February 2021 Letter and reminder postcard distribution  

January – March 2021 Social media activity 

 

Financial Implications 

13.  The waste collection proposals are likely to cost an additional 
£115,000 per annum, which has been included in the current Medium 
Term Financial Plan projections and will get formal approval in 
February 2021. 

Risk Assessment 

14. A risk assessment has been completed to ensure the safe re-start 
of food waste collections and the waste collection pilot. The rollout 
of fortnightly glass/batteries and continuation of food waste would 
not require any further changes to this.  

15. Collection day changes could cause confusion to some residents, 

12



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

together with changes to glass/battery collection frequency. 
However, the Communications Plan will help manage this process 
and will remain active for the first 6 – 8 weeks of the roll-out.   
 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

16. The waste collection pilot has shown no adverse impact for residents 
with protected characteristics. Residents requiring ‘assisted 
collections’, will continue to receive them. Residents are required to 
present their containers in the same way as before, albeit it may be on 
a different day/time.  Whilst the Equality Act is relevant to these 
changes it should not adversely impact people with protected 
characteristics and does not create additional social deprivation 
impact. These changes promote the aims of The Equality Act and all 
support mechanisms, for example assisted collections, for those that 
have healthcare/disability/mobility needs remain in place. 

17. An equality impact assessment has been carried out.  No adverse 
impacts have been noted in relation to people with protected 
characteristics.  For people experiencing social deprivation, the 
phasing in of food waste collections for residents living in flats 
following a pilot, would be considered a positive impact.   The 
communications plan will include paper and digital channels.  The 
action plan includes targeted engagement with residents and using the 
results from an online survey to improve services.  The equality impact 
assessment is attached as appendix 3.  

 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

18. A key benefit of the proposals in this report is the increasing use over 
time of low -emission vehicles which together with the use of route 
optimisation software, will increase the efficiency of collection rounds, 
whilst impacting positively on emission levels. These changes will 
also enhance the borough’s recycling performance in pursuit of 
increasing statutory recycling targets. 
 

Conclusion 

19. The changes proposed build on the success of the waste collection pilot to 
date and will improve collections for residents. Changes to legislation, revised 
recycling targets and proposed changes to local recycling infrastructure mean 
that the council needs to review and invest in its waste and recycling services 
to ensure they are able to meet these future challenges and deliver the levels 
of service that the Council is widely recognised for.   
 

20. It is recommended that Cabinet agrees to these proposed changes to 
enhance waste and recycling collections across the borough.  
 

13



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

GALE SMITH*AUTHOR 
PROJECT MANAGER - WASTE*TITLE 

 
Date: 25 November 2020 
Contact Officer: Paul Naylor  
Tel No: 023 8083 8370 
e-mail: paul.naylor@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 1, 2a, 2b, 2c 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

* List Background Papers or state None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

14

mailto:paul.naylor@eastleigh.gov.uk


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Appendix 1 – Map of Zonal Collections across Eastleigh Borough Council  

 

 

 

 

15



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Appendix 2a - Postcard to be used for the introduction of collection changes 
 

Front   
 

 
 
Back 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Appendix 2b – Poster for noticeboards in parishes to be used for the 
introduction of collection changes 
 

 

 

 

17



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Appendix 2c Recycling leaflet 

Front 

                             Back 

                                                  
 
 
 

18



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Appendix 3 - Equality Impact Assessment 
(EqIA)  

 

Title of EqIA: New Ways with Waste – Improving waste collections 

Brief description of  
the Proposal: 

A waste collection pilot (6,700 homes spread across the 
borough and 18 blocks of flats) is taking place and the 
launch of new waste collection frequencies for glass and 
batteries will take place from 1 March 2021. These 
collections will take place on the same day as dry mixed 
recycling). Improving efficiency of collections by adopting 
new zonal collection method. Phasing in food collections for 
flats. Communications to residents about these changes. 

Assessment: 

For all of categories below please consider: 

1. Does this proposal eliminate unlawful discrimination? 
2. Does this proposal advance equality of opportunity between people who 

share a protected characteristic and those who do not share it?  
3. Does this proposal foster good relations between people who share a 

protected characteristic and those who do not share it? 
 

Statutory Considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on 
people with protected characteristics.  

Age: No adverse impact. Assisted collections remain available. 
Communications materials available in digital and paper 
copy. 

Disability: No adverse impact. Communications in plain English and 
accessible formats on request. Assisted collections remain 
available. Communications materials available in digital and 
paper copy. 

19



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Gender: No adverse impact. 

Gender 
reassignment: 

No adverse impact. 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity: 

No adverse impact. (Women living alone recovering after 
childbirth are eligible for the assisted bin collection scheme 
if required and no-one else in the home able to present bins 
for collection). 

Race: No adverse impact. Communications in plain English and 
accessible. Communications materials available in digital 
and paper copy.  

Religion or belief: No adverse impact. 

Sexual Orientation: No adverse impact. 

Marriage and civil 
partnership: 

No adverse impact. 

Non statutory considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on 
people experiencing social deprivation. 

Social deprivation: No adverse impact. Positive impact (gradually as the 
programme rolls out) for those people living in flats on low 
incomes, to be able to recycle food waste. 

 

What engagement or 
consultation has 
been carried out? 

Food waste for flats is being piloted – November – January.  
The Council contacted managing agents (including Housing 
Associations) for all flats included in the pilot. An online 
survey is being conducted as part of the pilot study.  

20



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

What could reduce 
any adverse impact 
on these groups? 

Communications Plan already includes paper and digital 
channels, plain English and accessible formats on request. 
Stickers being produced to go on bins. 

 

Action Plan  

Activity  Outcome Timeframe Person 
responsible 

Market stall being 
considered to 
engage residents 

Improved 
communication and 
participation 

December 2020 Direct Services 

Targeted door 
knocking in areas 
of deprivation 

Improved 
communication and 
participation 

February 2021 Local Area 
Services (tbc) 

Use results of 
survey to improve 
service 

Improved service January 2021 Direct Services 

 

Lead Officer: Gale Smith 

Manager: Paul Naylor 

Corporate Director: Andrew Trayer 

Date completed: 26 November 2020 

 

21



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 

 

22



POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  

Monday, 7 December 2020  

CABINET 

Thursday, 10 December 2020 

EASTLEIGH HOMES DELIVERY STRATEGY 

Report of the Strategic Development Manager  

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel 
 
(1) consider the draft Eastleigh Homes Delivery Strategy attached at Appendix 1 

and make any recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate. 

It is recommended that Cabinet 
 
(2) notes the attached Eastleigh Homes Delivery Strategy at Appendix 1 and 

endorses its use in guiding the Council’s Housing Programme. 

 

Summary 
 
This report describes the role and purpose of the Eastleigh Homes Delivery Strategy 
attached at Appendix 1, and how it was prepared.  It is recommended that Cabinet notes 
and endorses the strategy as it provides the direction of travel and aims for the Council’s 
Housing Programme activity from 2021.  In its role as a developer, the Council will be 
guided by a set of key principles embedded in the strategy and will evaluate the 
Programme’s performance against these.  

A Task & Finish group from the Policy & Performance Scrutiny Panel and an Audit & 
Resources Working Group have both contributed to the development of the strategy.  

The strategy has no planning or policy status with regards to the Council’s role as local 
planning authority.  

Statutory Powers 
 
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority's general power of competence, 
including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or present in its area. 

 

23

Agenda Item 9



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Strategic Implications  

1. The Eastleigh Homes Delivery Strategy responds directly to the Housing 
Corporate Strategy (2018).  The latter strategy included a commitment to 
intervening in the local housing market to accelerate delivery of new homes 
and signalled the direction of travel.  The Delivery Strategy sets out the nature 
of this intervention activity and further justifies why this corporate plan 
objective remains as relevant as ever.  
 

2. The Delivery Strategy also responds to the Green Borough; Health and 
Wellbeing; and Prosperous Place Strategies approved in 2018, and this is 
shown explicitly as the Delivery Strategy aims have been grouped under the 
relevant themes. 
 

3. In addition to the Corporate Plan, the Delivery Strategy emphasises the 
importance of driving up standards and addresses the objective in the 
Council’s Climate and Environmental Emergency Strategy (2019) to lead by 
example in its own activity. 
 

4. The recently approved Asset Management Strategy (2020-25) identifies a key 
role the Council has in reviewing its own land and buildings to support housing 
delivery, and this is addressed as a crucial part of the future development 
pipeline in the Delivery Strategy.  Further, the Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy (2019-2024) highlights the importance of a new build 
programme for housing supply and accommodating homeless households. 
 
 

Introduction 

2. Since 2012 the Council has been working in partnership to deliver affordable 
and market rent homes in the Borough, and construction on schemes started 
in 2016.  Cabinet approved a Corporate Strategy for Housing in 2018. 

3. The acquisition of land west of Horton Heath in 2018 by the Council signalled 
the need to set out the Council’s aims and objectives for development, and a 
strategy for delivery.  The investment in the One Horton Heath project, as well 
as over ten other schemes in recent years, has culminated in the preparation 
of the attached Delivery Strategy (Appendix 1).  

4. The delivery of new homes under the Council’s Housing Programme means 
the project team and Housing Programme Board have identified lessons 
learned.  The Delivery Strategy builds on these lessons and provides a clear 
picture of what ‘success looks like’. The Strategy will be used to engage (and 
attract) prospective partners, and to be upfront about what the Council 
expects from its development projects with regards to housing delivery.  

5. Cabinet is asked to note the attached Delivery Strategy and endorse its use in 
guiding the Council’s Housing Programme from 2021. 

24



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Background 

6. In February 2018 Cabinet approved an emerging approach to housing tenure 
and tenancies, and the Delivery Strategy builds on this with its aim to provide 
a more diverse supply of housing to Borough residents; and ambition to 
become a landlord of choice. 

7. In June 2019 Cabinet noted progress with Housing Programme sites and that 
staff will continue to monitor development proposals which may be stalled and 
where joint working is necessary, to bring forward delivery and achieve 
affordable housing targets and address unmet needs. 

8. In June 2019 Cabinet also approved a Project Brief for development land west 
of Horton Heath to provide direction to the Council’s development project 
team. Whilst the Project Brief is centred on a single greenfield major 
development, many of the principles are applicable to other development 
schemes. The Delivery Strategy reflects the approach and ethos underpinning 
One Horton Heath- that the Council is delivering a different approach to 
development, focusing on community, innovation and sustainability.  It is 
essential that the Eastleigh Homes Delivery Strategy and the One Horton 
Heath Project Brief are complementary.  The Project Brief is online at 
www.onehortonheath.co.uk/about/one-horton-heath.  

9. The purpose of the Delivery Strategy is to provide clarity to partners and other 
stakeholders about the Council’s Housing Programme. This includes the 
reasons for intervening in development projects; what kinds of development 
will be sought; and what ‘added value’ or ‘additionality’ looks like for the 
Council.   

10. Since 2017/18 the housing land supply has been much more favourable than 
in preceding years- partly due to the Council’s intervention to expedite 
housing delivery on sites such as North Stoneham Park.  Accelerating delivery 
remains important, as maintaining a healthy five-year housing land supply is a 
key driver for the Housing Programme.  Future Council-led projects are likely 
to be ‘windfall’ sites however, and so quality is equally, if not more, important 
than quantity and housing numbers.  The intention is not to develop schemes 
which the market is already delivering. 

Eastleigh Homes: The right kind of developer for Eastleigh  

11. The Delivery Strategy (Appendix 1) details the overarching approach to 
housing schemes, and a set of ten aims, in order to achieve the ambition of 
being a different kind of developer, with a long-term stake in the Borough. The 
aims were identified and agreed with a working group of Councillors from 
Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel.  

12. This vision document will guide and inform our housing development activity 
over the next five-ten years.  As market experience grows and partnership 
working strengthens, the Delivery Strategy will be built upon- the document 
will be kept ‘live’, as we respond to new challenges and opportunities 
associated with local authority housing delivery. 

25

http://www.onehortonheath.co.uk/about/one-horton-heath


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

13. The Strategy is clear that it will not be possible or commercially appropriate to 
achieve all the listed aims for each scheme, and there will be instances when 
the investment in the project will be justified by the achievement of a few key 
areas.   Development staff will also prepare specific site guidance/ design 
briefs for individual schemes as appropriate. 

14. In practice, the Strategy will provide a framework against which to evaluate 
emerging new housing projects when initiating projects and agreeing site-
specific objectives.  It will also assist in evaluating performance i.e. whether 
we achieved what we set out to. 

Local authority direct delivery of housing  

15. Local authorities are increasingly returning to housebuilding for a wide range 
of reasons (including income generation), and they are building up knowledge 
and confidence in housebuilding.  Direct delivery of housing as part of wider 
regeneration schemes where councils own land, is also adding value to other 
council assets. 

16. It is important that the Council’s distinct role as both developer (of market-led 
development) and Local Planning Authority is understood in noting the 
Delivery Strategy.  The Local Planning Authority has a role in pro-actively 
supporting delivery and scrutinising the local authority when it is the 
developer, through the development management process.  Planners can be 
involved in non-regulatory parts of the process for projects, or as the case 
officer.   
 

17. The Delivery Strategy emphasises the potential tension between the Council’s 
roles in both promoting development and planning.  The Housing Programme 
Board plays a role in mediating any potential conflict between the relative 
priority assigned to different Council objectives.    Further, Local Planning 
Authorities have a responsibility to “work proactively with applicants to secure 
developments that will improve the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area” (as set out in paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework).   This means in practice any major conflicts are avoided. 
 

Strategy Framework  

18. The attached Delivery Strategy has no statutory status.   It has no planning or 
policy status with regards to the Council’s role as local planning authority. 

19. The emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2016-2036) is important to the 
Delivery Strategy however, as it explains how the Council’s own residential 
development schemes should seek to meet (or exceed) targets in the 
emerging Local Plan (depending on the type and scale of the scheme). The 
Housing Programme also has a role in implementing the planned housing 
development in the Local Plan where allocated sites are not being developed 
on target. 

26



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

20. During 2020, working groups from Audit and Resources Committee and the 
Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel were engaged on the preparation of 
the Strategy and their feedback is reflected in the version attached to this 
report.  An early draft of the Strategy was presented to the Housing 
Programme Board in July 2020. 

Financial Implications 

21. There are no direct financial implications as a result of this report. Cabinet are 
not asked to approve any additional expenditure as a result of endorsing the 
Delivery Strategy.  By noting the Strategy, it should be apparent that the 
ambition set out in the document is likely to lead to future expenditure as the 
Council acquires and invests in order to implement the Strategy.   

22. The capital value of the Housing Programme is currently £367.4M, which 
includes a mixture of significant capital budgets alongside smaller schemes 
(budgets of £15M or less).  As with all capital projects, Cabinet approval will 
be sought for funding, underpinned by a business plan appraisal showing nil 
net revenue effect.   Staff time will be capitalised to projects. 

23. As set out in the Delivery Strategy, future housing or mixed-use schemes will 
be based on a balanced business plan, as well as an evaluation of its social 
value.   Projects will be market-facing but grounded in achieving 
environmental and social well-being objectives, and therefore long term 
returns on investment are more typical for Council-led schemes. Not all 
schemes will be justified by the surplus generated, but value for money will be 
at the forefront of schemes. 

Risk Assessment 

24. The Delivery Strategy is needed to ensure that there is clarity on what the 
Council-led developments are seeking to deliver e.g. to inform future 
consultants, advisors and potential partners involved in housing projects. 

25. The absence of a Strategy could lead to significant delays to projects or 
misguided or costly abortive work.  The Strategy is clear about its purpose, 
which is to guide the Council’s developer activity only. The Strategy has no 
planning or policy status with regards to the Council’s role as local planning 
authority.  As mentioned above, part of the Strategy implementation is about 
ensuring transparency and clear separations between the Council as an 
applicant and development management. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

26. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
relates to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or 
fostering good relations between different people with protected 
characteristics.  

27. The Council’s developments will likely provide access to housing and home 
ownership for a wide range of ages, needs and incomes. This includes a 

27



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

minimum 35% affordable housing and potentially homes provided for later 
living/older persons (see Aim 1 in the Strategy).  Although not explicit, the 
Strategy addresses issues around fostering good relations between different 
people with protected characteristics.  Aim 6 considers income and those with 
other protected characteristics by aiming to ‘facilitate one inclusive sociable 
and supportive community as a lasting legacy’.  Aim 2 is clear that well 
designed schemes mean those designed to be tenure neutral and socially 
inclusive. 

28. A full Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out, because 
while there are some equalities impacts, it is not proportionate to carry out a 
full EIA, owing to the high-level nature of the Strategy document. 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

29. The Delivery Strategy is not a spatial plan and does not specify any sites for 
development- it is not possible to properly evaluate the climate change and 
environmental implications.   The Strategy does however make clear that 
Council-led schemes should help contribute to the Borough’s sustainability 
and resilience.  Protection of the environment is implied by explaining that the 
decisions to invest in projects are influenced by the need for social and 
environmental outcomes, rather than purely commercial outcomes.  
Specifically, aims 3-5 of the Strategy set out a commitment under the 
Council’s ‘Green Borough’ priorities, to tackling congestion, improving green 
infrastructure and building sustainably. 

Conclusion 

30. New homes have been completed in the Borough, or are under construction, 
as a direct result of the Council’s intervention.  This activity is managed 
through a dedicated Housing Programme and an associated Board.  

31. The Housing Programme Board supports scaling up this activity and growing 
a pipeline of housing schemes to support the local economy and meet local 
housing needs where possible.  Cabinet is asked to note the Eastleigh Homes 
Delivery Strategy (Appendix 1), and any recommendations from the Policy 
and Performance Scrutiny Panel. The purpose of the Delivery Strategy is to 
provide clarity to partners and other stakeholders about the Council’s Housing 
Programme and the approach to its own development. 

EMILY HOWBROOK 
STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT MANAGER (HOUSING AND DEVELOPMENT) 

 
Date: 26 November 2020 
Contact Officer: Emily Howbrook 
Tel No:  
e-mail: Emily.Howbrook@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 1 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

28



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

Appendix 1: Eastleigh Homes: The right kind of developer for Eastleigh 

29



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Eastleigh Homes: 
The right kind  
of developer  
for Eastleigh

31



2

Eastleigh Borough Council is developing  

land within the borough to build much  

needed new homes. 

There are a number of ways that we are supporting the development of new residential 
and mixed-use communities, and this document summarises what we want to achieve 
on sites we develop ourselves. Through our involvement in housebuilding, the places 
we help create should reflect our role as a local council, driven and led by local elected 
Councillors. Our efforts are focused on promoting thriving and healthy communities 
and maintaining an attractive and sustainable environment that residents’ value.

We recognise that the built environment can positively impact people and  
communities and our aim is to demonstrate this through our own thoughtfully  
planned developments. 

At Eastleigh Borough Council,  
we believe that providing excellent 
homes is an important part of being 
a prosperous and healthy Borough.

That’s why we play an active role 
in the Borough’s development 
schemes, buying land and 
partnering with private sector 
developers. When private 
developers can’t deliver, we can step 
up to increase our involvement. 

32



3

Our developer role

In its role as a developer, the Council will be 
guided by a set of key principles. Our vision is to 
demonstrate what it is to be a developer doing 
the right thing for the right reason, in the best 
way possible. 

Like all local authorities involved in housing 
delivery, we need to manage the tension 
between the roles in both promoting 
development and as Local Planning Authority 
(development management). We therefore have 
arrangements in place to avoid conflict, or the 
perception of conflict.

The driver for our development activity is 
helping to maintain planned housing supply 
whilst growing the portfolio of ‘Eastleigh 
Homes’, and meeting the ambition of being a 
local authority deliverer of housing.

This vision document will guide and inform our 
housing development activity over the next five-
ten years. This follows an approved Corporate 
Strategy for Housing, which confirmed the 
Council’s commitment to helping to deliver 
more of the right homes for Eastleigh Borough. 

We are looking to support projects which meet 
our objectives, and the ‘pipeline’ of future 
Eastleigh schemes is likely to come from:

• Direct delivery on land owned by the Council 
(see One Horton Heath -  
www.onehortonheath.co.uk)

• Helping to ‘unlock’ sites which are stalled or 
not being taken forward by other developers

• Monitoring and supporting the delivery of 
the emerging Local Plan allocated sites

• Bringing forward ‘windfall’ housing schemes 
on land owned or acquired by the Council 
within the urban edge (e.g. as part of a 
regeneration or redevelopment project)

Further details about the new communities 
we have helped to build in the Borough can be 
found at www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning-and-
building/housing-and-development

33



4

Our overarching approach:

Building the right homes…

• Helping to widen the choice of new homes for those needing and choosing to live in 
the Borough

• Delivering a portfolio of new homes retained by the Council as part of a long-term 
strategy

• Ensuring longevity and resilience in all our products and developments 

• Making planning and design processes accessible and collaborative

The Council is not currently a stock holding authority, and in recent years we have 
worked in partnership with housing associations and the private sector to develop and 
hold homes in a portfolio of company vehicles. Since 2018 over 300 new market rental 
homes have been held and managed on our behalf over and beyond the provision of 
affordable and social-rent homes. And this number is growing. The success of sites such 
as The Willows, West End and Leah Gardens and North Stoneham Park, Eastleigh, drive 
us to keep a proportion of new build homes for rent, rather than sell. The quality and 
sustainability of these homes is therefore a key part of our vision. Our aim is to be a 
landlord of choice. 

To be successful, our schemes must produce quality homes that focus on the needs 
of the household renting or purchasing the property and making their home in the 
community. 

34



5

...for the right reason...

• Safeguarding delivery in line with the Council’s emerging Local Plan, and ensuring 
an ‘infrastructure first’ approach to delivery

• Delivering based on need not profitability

• Driving up standards; demonstrating that it is possible to deliver high quality, policy 
compliant new housing developments 

The Council is driven by its aim to ensure a sustainable supply of new housing is 
delivered in the Borough in the next twenty years. By developing its own assets, the 
Council’s intervention will diversify the offer available to those in housing need. The 
Council operates a different financial approach to the major housebuilders and other 
private-sector developers. This means our decisions to invest in projects are influenced 
by the need for social and environmental, rather than purely commercial outcomes. 
Our ‘shareholders’ are our 125,000 residents. 

For example, the Council has declared a climate change emergency (2019) and our 
own residential development schemes should seek to meet (or exceed) targets in the 
emerging Local Plan (depending on the type and scale of the scheme). Council-led 
schemes should help contribute to the Borough’s sustainability and resilience.

…in the best way possible.

• Improving the reputation of Council housebuilding and development generally

• Benefiting our residents through the development process, using transparent and 
accessible engagement

• Pioneering better ways of delivering needed development that truly benefit 
Borough residents

The Council already works closely with communities through its Local Area 
Management arrangements, and local area decision-making, and understands the 
impact that housebuilding has locally. We also seek to secure local benefits from 
development and design these in consultation with community representatives. We 
believe that housebuilding should be responsible and minimise the impacts on existing 
residents.

We will promote both contemporary and traditional design to suit the varied demands 
across the Borough. We also encourage innovative thinking and will encourage 
designers to consider all forms of construction, including off-site manufacture.

35



6

Objectives for Eastleigh Homes:  

What we aim to deliver 

In order to achieve the ambition of being a different kind of developer, with a long-term 
stake in the Borough, we have identified a set of 10 delivery aims. The Council will also 
prepare specific site guidance/ design briefs for individual schemes as appropriate. 

These delivery aims provide a framework for our decision- making and will be used 
to justify our projects and designs. It will not be possible or commercially appropriate 
to achieve all these aims for each scheme, and there will be instances when the 
investment in the project will be justified by the achievement of a few key areas. For 
example, the Council has wider health and well-being objectives and recognises that 
the built environment can encourage and promote physical activity if considered at the 
appropriate design stage.

AIM 1: Provide a more diverse supply of Housing to Borough residents

The Council’s corporate strategy for housing is about helping to deliver more of the 
right homes for Eastleigh Borough. It states our commitment to widening the tenure 
mix and choice of new homes to meet the needs of current residents, the growing 
population, and those seeking to move into the Borough. Building new homes provides 
opportunities for people looking for affordable rent, or a new home to meet their 
changing needs.

The Council has responsibilities for monitoring and accommodating households in 
the greatest needs and can pinpoint what unmet needs are. We can shape schemes 
providing affordable housing to better meet these needs. 

We aim to help deliver homes which the market would not ordinarily deliver- notably 
affordable rent, private rent, low cost home ownership products and homes for later 
living. We may also seek opportunities to deliver accessible and adaptable housing at 
higher levels than the private sector housebuilders would.

We already offer a supply of private sector rented properties in the Borough and aim 
to expand this stock for households who are unable to own their own home, or access 
homes through Hampshire Home Choice.

36



7

AIM 2:  Support successful development which creates pride and a strong 

sense of place 

We want to help build successful places- well-designed and well-built communities 
that are fit for purpose but also aspirational. The aim is to create healthy and sociable, 
walkable neighbourhoods. And in our town and local centres promote well designed, 
high density mixed-use development. This also means properly integrated housing and 
other facilities that are designed to be tenure neutral and socially inclusive.

Through design, delivery and management of new housing schemes, the goal is 
providing homes that benefit existing and new residents. This includes a commitment 
to minimising the impact of construction activity, and encouraging, involving and 
working with local people in shaping future developments. 

We will seek opportunities to facilitate the timely provision of well- planned 
infrastructure (utilities, roads, footpaths etc) as part of our developments. Our 
approach is ‘infrastructure first’. 

We understand the need for a well-considered maintenance and management 
arrangements and will expect all footpaths, roadways and shared surfaces to be 
designed to adoptable standards. Adoption of new estate roads offers certainty 
to residents that roads will be kept in acceptable condition in the long term. For all 
sites we will agree the future maintenance of a new development with the Highway 
Authority (Hampshire County Council) at the earliest possible stage. 

Greener communities 

AIM 3:  Enhance natural assets, integrating these with 

new places 

AIM 4:  Enable and encourage encourage green and 

sustainable lifestyles for all 

AIM 5:  Create an overall positive environmental impact 

as a result of the development

Under our ‘Green Borough’ priorities, we are committed to tackling congestion, 
improving green infrastructure and building sustainably. Leading by example, and 
futureproofing through design, our developments should avoid contributing to the 
environmental challenges facing the borough. This includes reducing dependency 
on car ownership, reducing levels of water usage and reducing the carbon impacts of 
building.  We will set ourselves targets to reduce energy demand (and consumption) by 
designing and building energy efficient homes. 

In accessible locations, our projects should maximise opportunities for encouraging 
sustainable transport modes: including walking and cycling, low and ultra- low emission 
vehicles, car sharing and public transport. Where possible our developments will make 
use of ‘green’ sustainable drainage systems and natural flood resilience to help improve 
water quality in the area. 

37



8

Healthy Communities

AIM 6:  Facilitate one inclusive sociable and supportive 

community as a lasting legacy

AIM 7: Offer healthy living choices to all ages

Whilst a key driver for delivering new housing is to maintain the timely supply of new 
homes, the Council’s primary objective is placemaking, because the built environment 
can positively impact people and communities. Our developments should help provide 
a variety and choice of homes to suit all needs and ages, and across all tenures homes 
and spaces will be designed to the same high quality. We will aim for well-designed 
compact places which bring people together to support local public transport, facilities 
and local services. We are also focused on the quality and layout of individual homes, 
and as part of the One Horton Heath project we are designing house types which are 
ergonomic and adaptable, with an emphasis on flexible, useable living space. 

Prosperous places

AIM 8:  Provide greater access to flexible working 

arrangements and better facilities

AIM 9:  Safeguard existing jobs and create new 

employment opportunities

AIM 10:  Invest in employment skills and learning for 

benefit of Borough residents

Whilst we continue to be a prosperous Borough, the Council recognises the need 
to help tackle skill shortages in sectors such as construction and engineering, as 
well as addressing challenges faced by businesses. For example, we must recognise 
the increased importance of working from home and remote working. Through our 
development projects we will design with future flexible ways of working in mind, and 
look for opportunities to invest and prioritise the upfront delivery of much needed 
infrastructure. Importantly, we will engage with network operators and ensure our new 
homes have fast and reliable broadband connections installed. We will also influence 
the way developments are built through our Employer’s Requirements, ensuring 
investment in skills and training opportunities.

Get in Touch

To find out more about our projects or working with Eastleigh Borough Council please 
email: eastleighhomes@eastleigh.gov.uk   

Enquiries about our major new development at Horton Heath should be sent to 
onehortonheath@eastleigh.gov.uk  

38


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	8 New Ways with Waste
	9 Eastleigh Homes Delivery Strategy
	Appendix1HousingDeliveryStrategy2


